19

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

1 2011	20	1773
CLERK, SU	IPREM	E COURT
Rv		

L. C. BRADLEY,

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

Petitioner,

vs. : Case No. 81,672

Respondent.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

:

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA SECOND DISTRICT

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

JAMES MARION MOORMAN
PUBLIC DEFENDER
TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

DEBORAH K. BRUECKHEIMER ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 278734

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33830 (813) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On February 15, 1990, the State Attorney for the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit in and for Hillsborough County, Florida, filed two separate informations against the Appellant, L.C. BRADLEY, charging Mr. Bradley with two different robberies in violation of section 812.13(1) and (2)(c), Florida Statutes (1989), one which occurred on December 15, 1989, and the other which occurred on December 20, 1989 (R5, 6, 26, 27). On February 20, 1990, Mr. Bradley pled guilty to both charges and was sentenced to 7 years prison to be followed by 5 years probation with credit for 37 days served on each charge, said sentences to run concurrent (R7-11, 29-33). The guidelines recommended 5 1/2 to 7 years prison (R41, 42).

On December 4, 1991, Mr. Bradley, after serving 18 months in prison for the 7 years imposed, admitted violating his probation. The trial court, however, refused to give Mr. Bradley credit for the 7 years—time served plus gain time—and only credited Mr. Bradley for the actual time served upon resentencing. The trial court sentenced Mr. Bradley to 7 years prison on each charge, said terms concurrent, with credit for 190 days served (R17-21, 34-38, 65-74). The trial court denied Mr. Bradley's request for the full 7 years credit on December 11, 1991; and Mr. Bradley timely appealed that denial on December 30, 1991 (R12-16, 39, 40, 52, 75-84).

On April 14, 1993, the Second District Court of Appeal issued an opinion rejecting Mr. Bradley's request for the 7 years

credit based on the belief that the statute allowing a forfeiture of gain time took effect on October 1, 1989. Mr. Bradley had argued the appropriate statute had not become effective until September 1, 1990. The Second District Court of Appeal certified conflict with the Fourth District Court of Appeal which had held in Thomas v. State, 605 So. 2d 1286 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992), that the effective date of the applicable statute was September 1, 1990. Mr. Bradley has brought this certified conflict to the Court's attention.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in refusing to give Mr. Bradley credit for the prior 7 years served in that the statute which would allow the denial of credit for gain time only applies to crimes committed after its effective date of September 1, 1990, and only applies to the Department of Corrections.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANT CREDIT FOR TIME SERVED?

Mr. Bradley was given a 7-year sentence on December 4, 1991; but he had already received this 7 years when initially sentenced on February 20, 1990. Mr. Bradley served his 7-year sentence in 18 months, but the trial court refused to give Mr. Bradley credit for the entire 7 years by denying him credit for his gain time. The trial court refused to apply State v. Green, 547 So.2d 925 (Fla. 1989), to Mr. Bradley's case.

On appeal Mr. Bradley argued that statutory amendments designed to legislatively do away with <u>Green</u> did not take effect until September 1, 1990. The Second District Court of Appeal, however, applied a statutory change effective October 1, 1989, in a different statute and denied Mr. Bradley relief. Mr. Bradley's offenses were committed in December of 1989. The much broader issue that is to be addressed here is when was <u>Green</u> actually superseded by the legislature and who has the power to forfeit gain time when there is a violation of whatever form of release a defendant is on. It is Mr. Bradley's contention that the correct date for the legislative amendment that effectively did away with <u>Green</u> is September 1, 1990, and that only the Department of Corrections has the power to deny a defendant his gain time upon a violation of the various forms of release.

As pointed out in <u>Green</u> in § 944.28, Fla. Stat. (1987), gain time could only be forfeited if a prisoner was convicted of escape or if clemency on parole was revoked; and this forfeiture could only be done by the Department of Corrections. Forfeiture did not apply to revocation of probation, and there was no statutory authority for the trial court to initiate the forfeiture by denying credit for accrued gain time at resentencing upon a revocation of probation.

The opinion in <u>Green</u> was issued on July 20, 1989; and both the House and Senate created statutory amendments to fill the holes in the statutes that <u>Green</u> had highlighted. (This process apparently started before <u>Green</u> was issued as the amendments were approved by the Governor on June 28, 1989.) The end result was three amendments to two different statutes in 1989 effective on two different dates: Ch. 89-531 (Senate Bill #12-B) changed both § 944.28 and 948.06 (sections 6 and 13, respectively) and were to become effective on October 1, 1989 (section 20). The change to § 944.28 was to add probation and community control and provisional release to the Department of Corrections' powers to forfeit gain time if it so desired (note the word "may"). In the same bill there was an amendment to § 948.06 that added an entire subsection 61 which apparently accomplishes the same thing as the Ch. 89-531

^{1 §948.06(6),} Fla. Stat. (1989),
states:

⁽⁶⁾ Notwithstanding any provision of law to the contrary, whenever probation or community control, including the probationary or (continued...)

amendment to § 944.28(1). While the amendment to § 944.28(1) was under the chapter titled "State Correctional Systems," the amendment to § 948.06 was under the chapter titled "Probation and Community Control" (naturally, the amendment to the chapter on probation and community control does not refer to escape or parole). If it is to be presumed the legislature wished to insure that forfeiture of gain time could be done on violations of community control and probation as well as violations of parole and clemency or upon an escape, it is only logical the legislature would put this provision into both chapters. Problems occur, however, when the other arm of legislature—the House—tries to correct the same problem by enacting its own statutory amendment with slightly more encompassing language and a different effective date. The House version in Chapter 89-526 (House Bill No. 9-A)

l(...continued)
community control portion of a split sentence,
is violated and the probation or community
control is revoked, the offender, by reason of
his misconduct, may be deemed to have forfeited all gain-time or commutation of time for
good conduct, as provided by law, earned up to
the date of this release on probation or
community control from a state correctional
institution. This subsection does not deprive
the prisoner of his right to gain-time or
commutation of time for good conduct, as
provided by law, from the date on which he is
returned to prison.

created its own new subsection 6 to § 948.06² which added control release to the list of when gain time may be forfeited.

The important things to note about these two bills are the following:

- Both sets of amendments (Ch. 89-531 and 89-526) were approved by the Governor on the same date.
- 2. Both sets of amendments are designed to accomplish the same goal (i.e., allowing the forfeiture of gain time for violations of various forms of supervised release), but the Ch. 89-526 is broader in that it includes control release as well as probation and community control.
- 3. The more broad statute in Ch. 89-526 has an effective date of September 1, 1990, while Ch. 89-531 has an effective date of October 1, 1989.
- 4. Both amendments of subsection (6) to § 948.06 are completely underlined, which indicates that the House version (Ch. 89-526) did not consider itself a modification of the Senate version (Ch. 89-531).

 $^{^{2}}$ § 948.06(6), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1990), states:

⁽⁶⁾ Any provision of law to the contrary notwithstanding, whenever probation, community control, or control release, including the probationary, community control portion of a split sentence, is violated and the probation or community control is revoked, the offender, by reason of misconduct, may be deemed to have forfeited all gain-time or commutation of time for good conduct, as provided by law, earned up to the date of his release on probation, community control, or control release. This subsection does not deprive the prisoner of his right to gain-time or commutation of time for good conduct, as provided by law, from the date on which he is returned to prison.

There are several conclusions that can be reached from the above. The first is that the addition to § 948.06 in both bills was meant to accomplish the same objective. Secondly, because the House version is more broad in scope, it should take precedence over the Senate version. Thirdly, because the House version had an effective date farther away than the Senate version, it should take precedence over the Senate version. Under § 775.021(1), Fla. Stat. (1991), statutes pertaining to criminal defendants shall be strictly construed; and "when the language is susceptible of differing constructions, it shall be construed most favorably to the accused." (Emphasis added.) In this case we have the Senate and House trying to accomplish the same goal, but the left hand is not paying attention to the right hand. The Senate has an earlier effective date than the House; but applying the rule of construction requires construing conflicting criminal statutes most favorably to the accused. Thus, the House's latter effective date of September 1, 1990, would be more favorable to the accused as opposed to the effective date of October 1, 1989. This reasoning would apply to both of the Senate's amendments to this idea of broadening forfeiture of gain time in Ch. 89-531--§ 944.28(1) as well as § 948.06(6). The conclusion is that forfeiture of gain time for probation, community control and control release violations became effective on September 1, 1990.

The Second District Court of Appeal held that the two versions of the same amendment to § 948.06(6) were not really the same. The Second District Court of Appeal found the Senate version

(Ch. 89-531) gave the authority to forfeit gain time upon a revocation of probation or community control to the trial court and the House version merely added control release to the subsection. Mr. Bradley disagrees with these conclusions. There is nothing in the Senate version that states the trial court has the authority to forfeit gain time. On the contrary, neither version of § 948.06(6) says who is to decide whether or not forfeiture is in order. Although the State would like to have this Court believe that this subsection pertains to trial courts and their power to forfeit gain time, this assumption is not correct. Once the House version added control release to the list, any assumption about this section pertaining to the trial court's authority became invalid. Under § 947.146, Fla. Stat. (1989), determining violations and revoking control release is the sole authority of the Control Release Authority. The trial court never sees these defendants upon revocation of control release and would have no opportunity to consider a forfeiture of gain time in this circumstance. duty, under Ch. 947 of the Florida Statutes, along with duties pertaining to violations of parole belong to separate authorities/commissions created for that purpose. In a broader scope this is under the auspices of the Department of Corrections, not the trial court, as was clarified in the amendment to § 944.28(1), Fla. Stat. (1989) in Ch. 89-531.3

^{3 (1)} If a prisoner is convicted of escape, or if the clemency, conditional release as described in chapter 947, probation or community control as described in s. 948.—

(continued...)

That amendment, according to section 20 of Ch. 89-513 was supposed to be effective October 1, 1989; but in the note in § 944.28(1), Fla. Stat. (1989), the effective is published as being September 1, 1990.

Case law on this issue is not very helpful. Although district courts have reached different conclusions on which amendment and which effective date is applicable to forfeiting gain time, none of the cases sets forth an analysis as to why their choice was made. Cases holding the September 1, 1990, date applicable are: Smith v. State, 18 Fla. L. Weekly D471 (Fla. 5th DCA Feb. 12, 1993) ("Green applies, notwithstanding section 948.06(6), Florida Statutes, (Chapter 89-526, Section 8, Laws of Florida, effective September 1, 1990), because the original underlying offense occurred on February 6, 1989, prior to the effective date of the statutory change on September 1, 1990"); Ferguson v. State, 594 So.2d 864, 866 n.6 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992) ("Neither party addresses the applicability of section 948.06-(6).... This section was effective September 1, 1990. Laws 1989, Chapter 89-526, Section 8, 11, 52"); Thomas v. State, 605 So.2d 1286 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992) ("... Green applies because appellant

³(...continued)

Ol, provisional release as described in s.

944.277, or parole granted to him is revoked, the department may, without notice or hearing, declare a forfeiture of all gain-time earned according to the provisions of law by such prisoner prior to such escape or his release under such clemency, conditional release, probation or community control, provisional release, or parole.

committed the original offense before September 1, 1990, the effective date of section

As to cases holding the effective date to be October 1, 1989, not only is there the problem of no discussion but there is the additional problem of internal inconsistency. Although the Second District Court of Appeal denied any conflict with its decision in Bradley and its decision in Toschlog v. State, 604 So. 2d 22 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992); there is inconsistency with the decision it reached in another more recently issued opinion. In Bell v. State, 18 Fla. L. Weekly D298 (Fla. 2d DCA Jan. 13, 1993), the Second District Court of Appeal awarded earned gain time accrued during a prior imprisonment in accordance with State v. Green, 547 So. 2d 925 (Fla. 1989), where an offense was committed on June 20, 1990. The court stated:

Section 948.06(6), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1990), has been enacted to counter State v. Green, 547 So. 2d 925 (Fla. 1989). The Appellant's offense was, however, committed before the effective date of the statute.

Although the opinion doesn't state on its face the date of the offense, undersigned counsel's office handled that appeal. The date of <u>Bell's</u> offense was June 20, 1990 (see Appendix B). Even this Court has issued conflicting statements on this matter. In <u>State v. Carter</u>, 553 So. 2d 169 at 170 (Fla. 1989), this Court, in a footnote, stated the effective date was September 1, 1990:

2. We note that the legislature recently amended sections 944.28 and 948.06, Florida Statutes, to add revocation of probation to the list of circumstances justifying forfei-

ture of gain-time. Ch. 89-526, §§ 6, 8, Laws of Fla. However, both of these amendments become effective September 1, 1990, <u>id</u>. section 52, and are not applicable to this case.

In another footnote in a revised opinion issued in <u>Tripp v. State</u>, Case Number 79,176 (Fla. June 10, 1993), 4 this Court cites to the other amendment—Ch. 89-531—and states the effective date is October 1, 1989:

We note that prior to the enactment of chapter 89-531, Laws of Florida, "credit for time served" included jail time actually served and gain time granted pursuant to section 944.275, Florida Statutes (1991). State v. Green, 547 So. 2d 925, 927 (Fla. It did not include "provisional cred-1989). its" or "administrative gain time" which is used to alleviate prison overcrowding and is not related to satisfactory behavior while in prison. <u>See</u> § 944.277, Fla. Stat. (1991). By virtue of chapter 89-531, the revocation of probation or community control now serves to forfeit any gain time previously earned. This change in the law is inapplicable to Tripp because his crimes were committed before October 1, 1989, the effective date of the act.

Because neither <u>Carter</u> nor <u>Tripp</u> involved crimes committed after October 1, 1989, but before September 1, 1990, both footnotes can be considered dicta.

In conclusion Mr. Bradley contends that the confusion with duplicate statutes with conflicting dates of when they are to become effective require that the most favorable version be the one utilized. The statutory amendment in Ch. 89-526 with an effective date of September 1, 1990, is the appropriate statutory amendment.

⁴As of this date <u>Tripp</u> is not yet final and it is anticipated that a motion for rehearing will be filed by counsel for Tripp.

However, should this Court disagree and hold the October 1, 1989, date applicable, there is still the problem of who has the authority to forfeit the gain time—the Department of Corrections or the Department of Corrections and the trial court. Mr. Bradley contends that a strict reading of the statute does not extend to the trial court the authority to forfeit gain time by refusing credit for time served. The only statutory authority for forfeiture is that pertaining to the Department of Corrections. Thus, only the Department of Corrections has the authority to forfeit gain time; and the trial court erred in this case by usurping this authority and refusing to give Mr. Bradley his 7 years of credit.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing authority and argument this Court should reverse the Second District Court of Appeal's decision and order the cause be remanded for the trial court to award credit for the 7 years served.