007

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SID J. WHITE
.101 21 1993
CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By————————————————————————————————————

L. C. BRADLEY,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 81,672

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA SECOND DISTRICT

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CHRISTOPHER M. SIERRA
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0977446
Westwood Center
2002 N. Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Tampa, Florida 33607
(813) 873-4739

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Appellant is mistaken as to the effective date of the amendment to §948.06(6) which provides for the forfeiture of all gain time previously earned upon revocation of probation.

Appellant asserts that the effective is September 1, 1990; however, it is the State's position that forfeitures for revocation of probation under §948.06(6) became effective for all offenses on or after October 1, 1989. Since Appellant committed his offense on December 15 and December 20, 1989, the forfeiture provision applies, and the trial court exacted the forfeiture in accordance with the statutory authority invested in it by §9.48.06(6), Florida Statutes (1989).

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER UPON REVOCATION OF PROBATION THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE APPELLANT'S GAIN TIME PREVIOUSLY EARNED.

Appellant is mistaken as to the effective date of the amendment to §944.28(1) which provides for the forfeiture of all gain time previously earned upon revocation upon revocation of probation. Appellant asserts that the effective date is September 1, 1990; however, it is the State's position that forfeitures for revocation of probation under §948.06(6) became effective for all offenses committed on or after October 1, 1989. Since Appellant committed his offense in December of 1989, and the trial court exacted the forfeiture in accordance with the statutory authority invested in it by its §948.106(6), Florida Statutes (1989).

Appellant's argument is premised on his erroneous belief that the effective date of the amendments to §948.06(6) authorizing forfeiture of gain time for revocations of probation and community control is September 1, 1990. On the contrary, the amendment authorizing the forfeiture of gain time upon revocation of probation or community control became effective for offenses committed on or after October 1, 1989. See Ch. 89-531, §13, §19, §20, Laws of Florida. The effective date of September 1, 1990, applies only to the additional provision which authorizes forfeitures for revocation of control release supervision. See

Ch. 89-526, §8, §52, Laws of Florida. The State believes the confusion arose because of the enactment of two (2) separate bills during the 1989 special legislative session both of which amended §948.06(6), but each for different reasons and with different effective dates.

In response to the decision, in <u>State v. Green</u>, 547 So. 2d 925 (Fla. 1989), the Florida Legislature proposed legislation during the regular session in 1989, to allow for the forfeiture of all gain time while earned in prison on a probationary split term, upon revocation of the probation (or community control) and return to custody. <u>See Ch. 89-531</u>, §13, §19, §20, Laws of Florida. Although this legislation was vetoed at the close of regular session, the amendments to §948.06(6) were again represented at the special legislative session which followed. These amendments were effective for all offenses committed on

 $^{^{1}}$ Exhibits will be listed as Exhibits A through G.

Exhibit C is a copy of the staff analysis and economic impact statement for House Bill 300 which was proposed in the regular session of 1989. this bill was later vetoed by the Governor at the close of the regular session. The amendments to Section 948.06(6) contained in House Bill 300 (and the companion Senate Bill 728) were reserected during the special legislative session which followed the regular session, as Senate Bill 12-B. SB 12-B passed during the special legislative session and was signed into law on June 28, 1989. (See Exhibit D) Those amendments are contained in Chapter 89-531, Laws of Florida.

The amending language contained in Ch. 89-531, §6, Laws of Florida, provided as follows:

^{944.28} Forfeiture of gain-time and the right to earn gain-time in the future.--

⁽¹⁾ If a prisoner is convicted of escape, or if

or after October 1, 1989. Ch. 89-531, §19, Laws of Florida; Exhibit E.

During the same special legislative session, the Florida legislature enacted a new early release mechanism to control prison overcrowding. This new mechanism, called control release, authorizes the Florida Patrol Commission, sitting as the control release authority, to control the prison population. See Ch.89-526, §1 - 9, Laws of Florida, now codified at §947.146, Florida Statutes. Because the control release mechanism authorized the Commission (authority) to establish periods of supervision to follow control release, the legislature proposed an additional amendment to §944.28(1) to allow for the forfeiture of all of gain time earned up to the date of revocation of control release. This additional amendment 4 was specified to become effective on

Exhibit E.

the clemency, conditional release as described in Ch. 947, probation or community control as described in §948.01, provisional release as described in §944.277, or parole granted to him is revoked, the department may, without notice or hearing, declare a forfeiture of all gain-time earned according to the provisions of law by such prisoner prior to such escape or his release under such clemency, conditional release, probation or community control, provisional release, or parole.

The amending language of Ch. 89-526, §6, Laws of Fla., provided as follows:

^{944.28} Forefeiture of gain-time and the right to earn gain-time in the future.--

⁽¹⁾ If a prisoner is convicted of escape, or if the clemency, conditional release as described in Ch. 947, probation or community control as

September 1, 1990, as that was the date the entire control release statute was to become effective. See Ch. 89-526, §52, Laws of Florida; Exhibit F. The remainder of the amendments contained in Ch. 89-526 became effective October 1, 1989. Like Ch. 89-531, Ch. 89-526 was signed into law and filed with the Secretary of State's Office on June 28, 1989. Exhibit G.

Based upon the State's understanding of these two bills and the effective dates established by the legislature, the State considers the forfeiture provisions enacted into law under Ch. 89-531--that is, those forfeitures which are authorized are authorized for revocation of probation, community control and provisional release--to be effective for all offenses committed on or after October 1, 1989; and the additional forfeiture provisions enacted into law under Ch. 89-526--that is the forfeiture which is authorized for revocation of control release--to be effective on September 1, 1990, the effective date for control release. Exhibit H.

described in §948.01, provisional release as described in §944.277, or parole, or control release as described in §947.146 granted to him is revoked, the department may, without notice or hearing, declare a forfeiture of all gain-time earned according to the provisions of law by such prisoner prior to such escape or his release under such clemency, conditional release, probation or community control, provisional release, control release, or parole.

Exhibit F.

The State's position is supported by both §1.04, Florida Statutes, which provides a rule for statutory construction of amendatory acts passed during the same session in case law construing that provision.

§ 1.04 provides:

Acts passed during the same legislative session and amending the same statutory provisions are in pari materia and full effect should be given to each, if that is possible. Language carried forward unchanged in one amendatory act, pursuant to Section 6, Article 3, of the State Constitution, should not be read as conflicting with changed language contained in another act passing during the same session. Amendments enacted during the same session are in conflict with each other only to the extent that they cannot be given effect simultaneously.

In order to give full effects to both amendatory acts and apply the appropriate effective dates, the purpose of each act and the amending language must viewed in pari materia. It is obvious that the legislature intended to counteract the effect of the <u>Green</u> decision as it pertains to revocations of probation and community control, and that legislature intended that those amendments be given prompt effect, since the effective date which appears in Ch. 89-531 is October 1, 1989. It is also clear that the amendments and provisions contained in §1-9 of Ch. 89-526 were solely related to the establishment of a new early release mechanism, control release, which, because of its nature would require some lead time for implementation. Thus, the effective date for "control release" was established at the future date of

September 1, 1990. Because new language was already being proposed for forfeitures upon revocation of probation, community control, and provisional release. For other reasons, it was proper to include these additional amendatory provisions within the text of the proposed amendment in Ch. 89-526; however there can be no doubts that the focus of the first nine provisions of Ch. 89-526 were related solely to control release. Thus, the later effective date of September 1, 1990, should only be applied to additional amendatory language pertaining to revocation of See, e.g., Gunite Works, Inc. v. Lovett, 392 control release. So. 2d 910 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980) (We must assume that the act of the legislature in changing the effective date of some provisions of the Worker's Compensation law and then failing to change the effective date for other provisions expressed the legislature's intent that the latter provisions take effect on the date initially designated.).

That the amendments to §948.06(6), Florida Statutes, contained in Ch. 89-531, were to be effective for all offenses committed on or after October 1, 1989, it is also evidenced by the note which follows § 948.06 in the 1989 Statutes, which reads;

As created by Section 13, Chapter 89-531, Section 8, Chapter 89-526, also created Subsection (6)which will amend this version, effective September 1, 1990 to read;

(6) Any provision of the law to the contrary notwithstanding, whenever probation, community control, or control release, including the probationary, community control

portion of a split-sentence, is violated in the probationer, community control is revoked, the offender by reason of his misconduct, may be deemed to have forfeited all gain-time or commutation of time for good conduct as provided by law, earned up to the date of his release on probation, community control, or control release. This subsection does not deprive the prisoner of his right to gain-time or his commutation of time for good conduct, as provided by law from the date on which his return to prison.

Since the amendments to §948.06 contained in Ch. 89-531 appeared in the 1989 Statutes, there can be no doubt under Ch. 89-531 that the effective date is October 1, 1989. There should also be no doubt that the September 1, 1990 effective date for the additional amendment to §948.06(6) under Ch. 89-526 is limited to that additional amendment which brought in revocation of control release supervision as the basis for automatic forfeiture of gain-time.

This court has apparently been presented with the dilemma created by the differing effective dates presented between Ch. 89-531 and 89-26 and has concluded that the State's authority to exact a forfeiture for violation of probationer community control under §948.06(6) is effective for offenses committed on or after October 1, 1989. See, Tripp v. State, 18 FLW S. 326 (Fla. June 10, 1993).

Accordingly, Petitioner is not entitled to gain time in the amount of seven (7) years previously served prior to violation of probation.

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, based upon the foregoing arguments, citation and authority, this Honorable Court should affirm the judgement of the Second District Court of Appeals.